

# Infor LN Warehousing User Guide for Warehousing Procedures

#### Copyright © 2024 Infor

#### **Important Notices**

The material contained in this publication (including any supplementary information) constitutes and contains confidential and proprietary information of Infor.

By gaining access to the attached, you acknowledge and agree that the material (including any modification, translation or adaptation of the material) and all copyright, trade secrets and all other right, title and interest therein, are the sole property of Infor and that you shall not gain right, title or interest in the material (including any modification, translation or adaptation of the material) by virtue of your review thereof other than the non-exclusive right to use the material solely in connection with and the furtherance of your license and use of software made available to your company from Infor pursuant to a separate agreement, the terms of which separate agreement shall govern your use of this material and all supplemental related materials ("Purpose").

In addition, by accessing the enclosed material, you acknowledge and agree that you are required to maintain such material in strict confidence and that your use of such material is limited to the Purpose described above. Although Infor has taken due care to ensure that the material included in this publication is accurate and complete, Infor cannot warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete, does not contain typographical or other errors, or will meet your specific requirements. As such, Infor does not assume and hereby disclaims all liability, consequential or otherwise, for any loss or damage to any person or entity which is caused by or relates to errors or omissions in this publication (including any supplementary information), whether such errors or omissions result from negligence, accident or any other cause.

Without limitation, U.S. export control laws and other applicable export and import laws govern your use of this material and you will neither export or re-export, directly or indirectly, this material nor any related materials or supplemental information in violation of such laws, or use such materials for any purpose prohibited by such laws.

### **Trademark Acknowledgements**

The word and design marks set forth herein are trademarks and/or registered trademarks of Infor and/or related affiliates and subsidiaries. All rights reserved. All other company, product, trade or service names referenced may be registered trademarks or trademarks of their respective owners.

#### **Publication Information**

Document code	UwhprocugA US		
Release	10.6 (10.6)		
Publication date	August 5, 2024		

# **Table of Contents**

## About this document

Chapter 1 Introduction	7
Inbound and outbound procedures	7
Inbound and outbound processing of goods	7
Chapter 2 Defining Warehousing Procedures	9
Warehousing procedures	9
Link warehousing procedures to inbound and outbound goods	9
Automatic or manual execution of activities	10
How to define a warehousing procedure	10
Examples of warehousing procedures	11
Receipt Procedure	11
Outbound Procedure	12
Chapter 3 Defining Warehousing Order Types	13
To define warehousing order types	13
Define warehousing order types	13
Chapter 4 Activity Settings	15
Default activities by procedure	15
Receipt Procedure	15
Inspection Procedure	15
Outbound Procedure	16
Shipment Procedure	16
Receipt activity settings	16
Receipt Procedure	17
Inspection activity settings	20
Inspection Procedure	21
Outbound activity settings	22
Outbound Procedure	23

Shipment activity settings	25
Shipment Procedure	26
Default values for order line activities	28
Receipt Procedure	28
Inspection Procedure	28
Outbound Procedure	28
Shipment Procedure	28
Chapter 5 Modifying Activity Settings	29
To modify activities by order line	29
To change order line activities for the receipt procedure	29
To change order line activities for the inspection procedure	32
To change order line activities for the outbound procedure	34
To change activities for the shipment procedure	36
Chapter 6 Planned Status	39
Planned status for warehousing orders and order lines	39
Appendix A Glossary	41
Index	

## About this document

#### **Objectives**

The objectives of this book are to describe the purpose and the use of warehousing procedures.

#### References

Use this guide as the primary reference for warehousing procedures. Use the current editions of these documents for information that is not covered in this guide:

- User Guide for Warehouses
- User Guide for Warehousing Orders
- User Guide for the Inbound Goods Flow (U9788 US)
- User Guide for the Outbound and Shipments Goods Flows (U9794 US)
- User Guide for Warehousing Inspections (U9875 US)
- User Guide for Warehousing Quarantine Handling (U9876 US)
- Infor LN Warehousing User Guide for Multisite

#### How to read this document

This document is assembled from online Help topics.

Text in italics followed by a page number represents a hyperlink to another section in this document.

Underlined terms indicate a link to a glossary definition. If you view this document online, clicking the underlined term takes you to the glossary definition at the end of this document.

#### Comments?

We continually review and improve our documentation. Any remarks/requests for information concerning this document or topic are appreciated. Please e-mail your comments to <a href="mailto:documentation@infor.com">documentation@infor.com</a>.

In your e-mail, refer to the document number and title. More specific information will enable us to process feedback efficiently.

#### **Contacting Infor**

If you have questions about Infor products, go to Infor Concierge at <a href="https://concierge.infor.com/">https://concierge.infor.com/</a> and create a support incident.

If we update this document after the product release, we will post the new version on the Infor Support Portal. To access documentation, select **Search Browse Documentation**. We recommend that you check this portal periodically for updated documentation.

If you have comments about Infor documentation, contact documentation@infor.com.

## Inbound and outbound procedures

In LN, user-definable warehousing procedures control the inbound, storage, and outbound goods flows in your warehouse.

A warehousing procedure includes various <u>activities</u> that determine the way goods are processed in the warehouse.

The warehousing inbound flow comprises the following default procedures:

- The Receipt Procedure
- The Inspection Procedure

The warehousing outbound flow comprises the following default procedures:

- The Outbound Procedure
- The Shipment Procedure

The outbound procedure can include outbound inspections, if required.

## Inbound and outbound processing of goods

To process the goods in LN, you can take either of the following steps:

## Process the warehousing order lines that list the goods

If you process the warehousing order lines, by default, LN processes the goods according to the warehousing procedure that is linked to the warehouse order type of the warehousing order to which the order lines belong. For individual warehousing orders or order lines, you can modify the default warehousing procedure. For further information on defining and modifying warehousing procedures, see *Warehousing procedures* (p. 9) and How to modify warehousing procedures.

#### Process the handling units that contain the goods

To process a <u>handling unit</u>, the handling unit must be linked to a warehousing order line. If you process a handling unit, the handling unit is processed according to the warehousing procedure of the warehousing order line. For each procedure step that a handling unit takes, the order lines are updated in the background.

Inbound goods are listed on inbound order lines, and outbound goods are listed on outbound order lines. Inbound and outbound order lines are generated from orders originating from other LN packages or are manually created in Warehousing. For more information, refer to Warehousing orders.

Depending on your data setup, handling units can be generated automatically for inbound or outbound goods, or you can generate or manually create handling units during any of the stages of the inbound and outbound goods flow.

You can view the progress of order lines or handling units during warehouse processing in the following sessions:

- Inbound Line Status Overview (whinh2119m000)
- Outbound Line Status Overview (whinh2129m000)
- Handling Unit Process Inbound (whinh2113m000)
- Handling Unit Process Outbound (whinh2123m000)

These sessions show the activities that have been performed for the order lines or the handling units, and show the next activity that you must perform. In addition, in these sessions you can perform activities that must be performed manually.

## Warehousing procedures

To model the inbound, storage, and outbound goods flows in your warehouse, you can define warehousing procedures in LN.

The following warehousing procedure types are available:

- Receipt Procedure
   This procedure controls the receipts of goods
- Inspection Procedure
  The inspection procedure controls the inspection of goods received at the warehouse.
- Outbound Procedure
  The outbound procedure controls the issue of goods. This procedure can include outbound inspections.
- Shipment Procedure
   The shipment procedure controls staging and shipping of goods.

A <u>warehousing procedure</u> includes various steps called <u>activities</u> that control the way warehousing orders and/or handling units are processed. An activity is performed using a particular LN session.

## Link warehousing procedures to inbound and outbound goods

Initially, you define a warehousing procedure and link this procedure to a particular <u>warehousing order type</u>. As a result, the warehousing procedure is the default procedure for the warehousing orders to which the order type is allocated, and the goods are processed according to the procedure of the order on which the goods are listed.

If you use handling units to process goods into and/or out of the warehouse, the goods are processed according to the warehousing procedure of the warehousing orders that list the goods contained in the handling units.

You can adjust the default procedure for individual warehousing orders and warehousing order lines of this warehousing order type. If you adjust the default procedure for an individual warehousing order of this order type, the adjusted procedure applies to the inbound and/or outbound order lines of the warehousing order. You can also adjust the warehousing procedure for an individual inbound or outbound order line.

## Automatic or manual execution of activities

You can specify whether an <u>activity</u> of a warehousing procedure must be carried out manually or automatically. Manually means that the user must perform the activity using the session related to the activity. Automatic means that the activity is carried out automatically after the preceding activity is finished. If the first activity is automatic for warehousing orders generated from orders originating from other packages, this activity is carried out the moment the warehousing order is generated.

However, to trigger warehouse processing for warehousing orders whose first activity is set to automatic processing and that are manually created or generated from Project, you must click Process.

The Process command is available in the following sessions:

- Warehousing Orders (whinh2100m000)
- Warehousing Order (whinh2100m100)
- Warehouse Manager Dashboard (whinh2300m000)
- Warehousing Assembly Orders (whinh2101m000)
- Inbound Order Lines (whinh2110m000)
- Outbound Order Lines (whinh2120m000)

## How to define a warehousing procedure

## Step 1: Define procedure

In the Warehousing Procedures (whinh0105m000) session, define the identification code, the description and the procedure type of the warehousing procedure.

## Step 2: Add activities to procedure

After you create a warehousing procedure, you must add <u>activities</u> to the procedure. To add activities, proceed as follows:

- 1. In the Activities by Procedure (whinh0106m000) session, in the **Warehousing Procedure** field, select the procedure to which you want to add activities. As a result, LN displays the available activities related to the procedure type of the warehousing procedure you just selected. For example, if you defined a receipt procedure in the Warehousing Procedures (whinh0105m000) session and select this receipt procedure in the Activities by Procedure (whinh0106m000) session, LN displays the available receipt activities.
- 2. To add an activity to the procedure, select the **Applicable** check box next to the activity. Note that most procedures have a few mandatory activities, such as Warehouse Receipt

(whinh3512m000) in the **Receipt Procedure**, or Generate Outbound Advice (whinh4201m000) session in the **Outbound Procedure**. Mandatory activities are pre-selected by LN and read-only. For further information, see **Applicable**.

- **3.** To specify that the added activity must be carried out automatically, select the **Automatic** check box. If you do not select this check box, the user must manually trigger the activity.
- **4.** For activities that involve printing documents, such as storage lists or shipping documents, in the **Output Device** field, select one of the output devices available in your organization.

## Step 3: Link procedure to Warehousing Order Type

To link the procedure to warehousing orders, in the Warehousing Order Types (whinh0110m000) session, link the warehousing procedure to a <u>warehousing-order type</u>. As a result, the warehousing procedure is the default procedure for the warehousing orders to which the order type is allocated.

## Step 4: Link Warehousing Order Type to Order Origin

To link the warehousing order type to order origins, in the Default Order Types by Origin (whinh0120m000) session, link the warehousing order type to an order origin. As a result, the warehousing order type (with the warehousing procedure previously allocated) is the default warehousing order type for warehousing orders generated from orders of the order origin to which the warehousing order type is linked.

### Performance aspects

Keeping warehousing order line activities in your system after the warehousing order is closed results in considerable data growth. If you do not want to remove warehousing orders with status **Closed**, an alternative way to reduce the number of records in your system is to remove the order line activities of closed orders. To do this, in the Remove Warehousing Orders (whinh2250m000) session, select the **Line Activities of Closed Orders** check box.

## Examples of warehousing procedures

This topic shows a few examples of warehousing procedures that you can define to meet the requirements of your warehouse.

## **Receipt Procedure**

The simplest receipt procedure comprises only the mandatory activities, which, in addition, you can make LN perform automatically:

- Warehouse Receipt (whinh3512m000) If this activity is performed automatically, LN creates and confirms the receipt record.
- Generate Inbound Advice (whinh3201m000)

 Put Away Inbound Advice (whinh3203m000) (This activity is mandatory if you do not select the Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000) activity.)

More complex receipt procedures in your warehouse may require you to select more of the available activities of the Activities by Procedure (whinh0106m000) session and set these activities to manual performance in order to enable users to record any changes in quantities received, quantities stored, storage locations, and so on.

Of course, if your inbound goods flow includes inspections, you can also select the Inspection Procedure.

## **Outbound Procedure**

The simplest outbound procedure comprises only the mandatory activities, which, in addition, you can make LN perform automatically:

- Generate Outbound Advice (whinh4201m000) (mandatory)
- Release Outbound Advice (whinh4202m000) (mandatory)

More complex outbound procedures in your warehouse may require you to select more of the available activities of the Activities by Procedure (whinh0106m000) session and set these activities to manual performance in order to enable users to record any changes in quantities issued, pick locations, and so on.

#### Note

In the Activities by Procedure (whinh0106m000) session, select the **Automatic** check box to make LN perform these activities automatically.

## To define warehousing order types

<u>Warehousing order types</u> determine how warehousing orders are handled. Warehousing order types are classified by <u>inventory transaction type</u>. The inventory transaction type that you add to a warehousing order type determines the type of <u>warehousing procedure</u> that you can link to the warehousing order type. The activities that must be carried out in order to handle warehousing orders are, by default, determined by the warehousing procedures that are linked to the warehousing order types.

Warehousing order types are linked to warehousing orders when warehousing orders are generated from other packages or when you manually create a warehousing order in the Warehousing Orders (whinh2100m000) session.

## Define warehousing order types

In the Warehousing Order Types (whinh0110m000) session, you can specify warehousing order types for the following <u>inventory-transaction types</u>:

- Receipt
  - Use a warehousing order type of inventory transaction type **Receipt** to receive goods in a warehouse. You can link a **Receipt Procedure** and, optionally, an **Inspection Procedure** to a warehousing order type of inventory transaction type **Receipt**.
- Issue
  - Use a warehousing order type of inventory transaction type **Issue** to issue goods from a warehouse. You can link a **Outbound Procedure** and a **Shipment Procedure** to a warehousing order type of inventory transaction type **Issue Note**: LN allows you to modify the outbound order line data based on the value the **Allow Updating Outbound Order Lines upto and including** field is set to in the Warehousing Order Types (whinh0110m000) session.
- Transfer
  - Use a warehousing order type of inventory transaction type **Transfer** to transfer goods between warehouses, locations, business partners, projects, or work centers.

You must link these procedures to a warehousing order type of inventory transaction type **Transfer**:

- Receipt Procedure
- Inspection Procedure
- Outbound Procedure
- Shipment Procedure

A transfer involves either one or two warehouses. If items are transferred between two different warehouses, all activities of the warehousing procedures must be carried out. However, if a transfer takes place between two locations within the same warehouse, the receipt activities are not carried out. You can use transfer orders to define a replenishment system within a single warehouse. This system controls replenishment from bulk locations to pick locations.

Note: LN allows you to modify the outbound order line data based on the value the Allow Updating Outbound Order Lines upto and including field is set to in the Warehousing Order Types (whinh0110m000) session.

- Inspections in LN Quality are possible for warehouse orders having order origin Transfer (Manual) only if the QM Implemented parameter is selected for the order type Warehouse Transfer in the Quality Management Parameters (qmptc0100m000) session.
- WIP Transfer

Use a warehousing order type of inventory transaction type **WIP Transfer** to transfer work from one costing work center to another.

## Default activities by procedure

For each type of warehousing procedure, various activities are available. For each type of warehousing procedure, the following list shows the available activities.

## **Receipt Procedure**

- Print Receipts (whinh3412m000)
- Warehouse Receipt (whinh3512m000) (mandatory) If this activity is performed automatically, LN creates and confirms the receipt record.
- Generate Inbound Advice (whinh3201m000) (mandatory)
- Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000)
- Storage List (whinh3525m100) If this activity is performed automatically, LN puts away the goods listed on the storage list.
- Put Away Inbound Advice (whinh3203m000) (This activity is mandatory if you do not select the Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000) activity.)

#### **Note**

The Generate Inbound Advice (whinh3201m000), Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000), and Storage List (whinh3525m100) activities are unavailable for warehouses without locations. For non-location controlled warehouses, LN skips the these activities and puts away the goods after the receipt of the goods is confirmed.

## **Inspection Procedure**

- Warehouse Inspections Overview (whinh3122m000) (mandatory)
- Generate Inbound Advice (whinh3201m000) (mandatory)
- Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000)

- Storage List (whinh3525m100) If this activity is performed automatically, LN puts away the goods listed on the storage list.
- Put Away Inbound Advice (whinh3203m000)

## **Outbound Procedure**

- Generate Outbound Advice (whinh4201m000) (mandatory)
- Release Outbound Advice (whinh4202m000) (mandatory)
- Generate Picking List (whinh4415m000)
- Picking List (whinh4525m100) If this activity is performed automatically, LN confirms picking of the goods listed on the picking list.
- Warehouse Inspections Overview (whinh3122m000)

## **Shipment Procedure**

- Freeze/Confirm Shipments/Loads (whinh4275m000) (mandatory)
- Print Bills of Lading (whinh4470m000)
- Print Packing Slips (whinh4475m000)
- Print Packing Lists (whinh4476m000)
- Print Delivery Notes (whinh4477m000)
- Print Shipping Manifest (whinh4478m000)
- Process Pro Forma Invoices (whinh4279m000)

# Receipt activity settings

The following tables show the default settings for the **Applicable** and **Automatic** check boxes in the Activities by Inbound Order Line (whinh2114m000) session.

## **Receipt Procedure**

## Activity: Print Receipts (whinh3412m000)

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)		Activities by Inbound Order Line (whinh2114m000)		Order Line (whinh2114m000)
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- ble	Automatic	Conditions
Selected	Cleared	Cleared	Disabled	For cost or service items, which you would not normally print on a goods received note.
Selected	Cleared	Selected	Cleared	For physical items, cost, or service items that you must print on a goods received note.
Cleared	Cleared	Selected	Cleared	

## Activity: Warehouse Receipt (whinh3512m000)

The settings for the Warehouse Receipt (whinh3512m000) session activity are not changed when copied from the Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000) session to the Activities by Inbound Order Line (whinh2114m000) session.

## Activity: Generate Inbound Advice (whinh3201m000)

<b>Activities by Warehousing</b>	Activities by Inbound Order Line (whinh2114m000)
Order (whinh2104m000)	

Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- ble	Automatic	Conditions
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.	Selected	Selected	Selected	Both item and warehouse are location controlled.
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.	Selected	Cleared	Cleared	Item or warehouse are not location controlled.
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.		Selected	Cleared	Both item and warehouse are location controlled.
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.		Cleared	Cleared	Item or warehouse are not location controlled.

## Activity: Put Away Inbound Advice (whinh3203m000)

# **Activities by Warehousing** Activities by Inbound Order Line (whinh2114m000) **Order (whinh2104m000)**

Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- Automatic ble	Conditions
Selected	Selected	Selected Selected	Both item and warehouse are location controlled.
Selected	Selected	Cleared Cleared	Item or warehouse are not location controlled.

Selected	Cleared	Selected	Cleared	Both item and warehouse are location controlled.
Selected	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Item or warehouse are not location controlled.
Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	

## Activity: Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000)

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)		Activities	by Inbound (	Order Line (whinh2114m000)
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- ble	Automatic	Conditions
Selected	Cleared	Selected	Cleared	Both item and warehouse are location controlled.
Selected	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Item or warehouse are not location controlled.
Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	
Selected	Selected	Selected	Selected	Both item and warehouse are location controlled.
Selected	Selected	Cleared	Cleared	Item or warehouse are not location controlled.

## Activity: Storage List (whinh3525m100)

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)		Activities by Inbound Order Line (whinh2114m000)		
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- Automatic ble	Conditions	
Selected	Cleared	Selected Cleared	Both item and warehouse are location controlled.	

Selected	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Item or warehouse are not location controlled.
Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	
Selected	Selected	Selected	Selected	Both item and warehouse are location controlled.
Selected	Selected	Cleared	Cleared	Item or warehouse are not location controlled.

If the **Applicable** check box is cleared, the **Automatic** check box is disabled. If you select the **Applicable** check box, the **Automatic** check box is enabled.

# Inspection activity settings

The following tables show the default settings for the **Applicable** and **Automatic** check boxes in the Activities by Inbound Order Line (whinh2114m000) session.

## **Inspection Procedure**

## Activity Put Away Inbound Advice (whinh3203m000)

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)		Activities by Inbound Order Line (whinh2114m000)		
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- Automatic ble	Conditions	
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.		Selected Cleared	Both item and warehouse are location controlled.	

## Activity Put Away Inbound Advice (whinh3203m000)

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)		Activities by Inbound Order Line (whinh2114m000)		
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- ble	Automatic	Conditions
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.	Selected	Selected	Selected	Both item and warehouse are location controlled.
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.	Selected	Cleared	Cleared	Item or warehouse are not location controlled.
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.		Selected	Cleared	Both item and warehouse are location controlled.
Selected; this set- ting is	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Item or warehouse are not location controlled.

read-on	lv
rcau-on	ıy.

eared Cleared Cleared
-----------------------

#### Note

For the activities Generate Inbound Advice (whinh3201m000), Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000), and Storage List (whinh3525m100), see *Receipt activity settings* (p. 16).

# Outbound activity settings

The following tables show the default settings for the **Applicable** and **Automatic** check boxes in the Activities by Outbound Order Line (whinh2124m000) session.

## **Outbound Procedure**

## Activity Generate Outbound Advice (whinh4201m000)

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)		Activities by Outbound Order Line (whinh2124m000)		
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- ble	Automatic	Conditions
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.	Selected	Selected	Selected	Physical item.
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.		Selected	Cleared	Physical item.
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.		Cleared	Cleared	Cost or service item.

## Activity Release Outbound Advice (whinh4202m000)

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)		Activities by Outbound Order Line (whinh2124m000)			
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- ble	Automatic		Conditions
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.	Selected	Selected	Selected	Physical item.	
Selected; this set- ting is	Cleared	Selected	Cleared	Physical item.	

read-only.	
------------	--

Selected; Cleared	Cleared Cleared	Cost or service item.
this set-	Cloured Cloured	355, 51, 551, 1155 1151111
ting is read-only.		
,		

## **Activity Generate Picking List (whinh4415m000)**

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)	Activities by Outbound Order Line (whinh2124m000)			
Applica- Automatic ble	Applica- Automatic ble	Conditions		

Selected	Selected	Selected	Selected	Physical item and no-return rejected goods for warehouses that are not WMS-controlled.
Selected	Cleared	Selected	Cleared	Physical item and no-return rejected goods for warehouses that are not WMS-controlled.
Selected	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Cost or service item or rejected goods to be returned for warehouses that are not WMS-controlled.

## **Activity Picking List (whinh4525m100)**

<b>Activities by Warehousing</b>	Activities by Outbound Order Line (whinh2124m000)
Order (whinh2104m000)	

Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- Automatic ble	Conditions
Selected	Selected	Selected Selected	Physical item and no-return rejected goods for warehouses that are not WMS-controlled.
Selected	Cleared	Selected Cleared	Physical item and no-return rejected goods for warehouses that are not WMS-controlled.

Selected	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Cost or service item or rejected goods to be returned for warehouses that are not WMS-controlled.
Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	

## **Activity Warehouse Inspections Overview (whinh3122m000)**

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)		Activities by Outbound Order Line (whinh2124m000)			
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- ble	Automatic	Conditions	
Selected	Cleared; this set- ting is read-only.	Selected	Cleared	Physical item and no-return rejected goods for warehouses that are not WMS-controlled.	
Selected	Cleared; this set- ting is read-only.	Cleared	Cleared	Cost or service item or rejected goods to be returned for warehouses that are not WMS-controlled.	
Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	The Return Quarantine Inventory Payable to Supplier check box is selected in the Warehousing Orders (whinh2100m000) session.	

# Shipment activity settings

The following tables show the default settings for the **Applicable** and **Automatic** check boxes in the Activities by Outbound Order Line (whinh2124m000) session.

## **Shipment Procedure**

## Activity Freeze/Confirm Shipments/Loads (whinh4275m000)

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)		Activities by Outbound Order Line (whinh2124m000)			
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- ble	Automatic	Conditions	
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.		Selected	Selected	Shipment is applicable.	
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.		Cleared	Cleared	Shipment is not applicable. See the following note.	
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.		Selected	Cleared	Shipment is applicable.	
Selected; this set- ting is read-only.		Cleared	Cleared	Shipment is not applicable. See the following note.	

## Note

Shipment is not applicable in the following situations:

- The goods are moved to a work center by means of a production order, an assembly order, or a maintenance work order.
- The goods are moved from one location to another in the same warehouse by means of an internal transfer order.

## **Activity Print Bills of Lading (whinh4470m000)**

	s by Warehousing hinh2104m000)	Activities	by Outbound C	order Line (whinl	n2124m000)
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- ble	Automatic		Conditions
Selected	Selected	Selected	Selected		
Selected	Cleared	Selected	Cleared		
Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared		

## Activity Print Packing Lists (whinh4476m000)

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)		Activities by Outbound Order Line (whinh2124m000)			
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- ble	Automatic	Conditions	
Selected	Selected	Selected	Selected		
Selected	Cleared	Selected	Cleared		
Cleared	Cleared	Cleared	Cleared		

## **Activity Print Packing Slips (whinh4475m000)**

Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000)		Activities by Outbound Order Line (whinh2124m000)		
Applica- ble	Automatic	Applica- Automatic ble	Conditions	
Selected	Selected	Selected Selected		

Selected	Cleared	Selected Cleared	
Cleared	Cleared	Cleared Cleared	

## Default values for order line activities

The following tables show the values for the **Applicable** and **Automatic** check boxes for each activity in the Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000) session and the order lines activities sessions Activities by Inbound Order Line (whinh2114m000) and Activities by Outbound Order Line (whinh2124m000). For each value specified in the Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000) session, ERP LN 6.1 provides a default value in the relevant lines activities session when the activities are copied from the Activities by Warehousing Order (whinh2104m000) to the relevant order lines activities session.

## **Receipt Procedure**

Receipt activity settings (p. 16)

## **Inspection Procedure**

Inspection activity settings (p. 20)

## **Outbound Procedure**

Outbound activity settings (p. 22)

## **Shipment Procedure**

Shipment activity settings (p. 25)

## To modify activities by order line

For each activity of an inbound or outbound order line, one or more conditions determine whether you can change the settings of the **Applicable** and **Automatic** fields, and what settings you can change.

# To change order line activities for the receipt procedure

The following tables list the conditions that determine whether you can change the settings of the **Applicable** and **Automatic** fields, and what settings you can change, for activities of the receipt procedure for inbound order lines.

Activity Print Receipts (whinh3412m000)			3412m000)
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information
Applica-	Cleared	Selected	Only if the status of the inbound order line is <b>Open</b> .
	Selected	Cleared	Only if the status of the inbound order line is <b>Open</b> and the goods received not has not yet been printed.
Automat-	Cleared	Selected	Only if the status of the inbound order line is <b>Open</b> .
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if the status of the inbound order line is <b>Open</b> and the goods received not has not yet been printed.

Activity	Warehouse Receipt (whinh3512m000)			
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information	
Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	The Warehouse Receipt (whinh3512m000) session is mandatory for the <b>Receipt Procedure</b> . Therefore, this check box is selected and read-only.	
	Selected	Cleared	See the previous condition.	
Automat-	Cleared	Selected	Only if no receipt lines exist.	
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no receipt lines exist.	

Activity	Generate In	Generate Inbound Advice (whinh3201m000)		
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information	
Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	The Generate Inbound Advice (whinh3201m000) session is mandatory for the <b>Receipt Procedure</b> . Therefore, this check box is selected and read-only.	
	Selected	Cleared	See the previous condition.	
Automat	- Cleared	Selected	Only if no confirmed receipt lines exist.	
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no confirmed receipt lines exist.	

Activity	Put Away Ir	nbound A	dvice (whinh3203m000)
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information

Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	This check box is automatically cleared and read-only if the Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000) activity is set to not applicable.
	Selected	Cleared	This check box is automatically selected and read-only if the Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000) activity is set to applicable.
Automat-	Cleared	Selected	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.
IC	Selected	Cleared	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.

Activity	Generate St	Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000)			
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information		
Applica-	Cleared	Selected	Only if the status of the inbound order line is not beyond <b>Received</b> .		
ble	Selected	Cleared	Only if the status of the inbound order line is not beyond <b>Received</b> .		
Automat-	Cleared	Selected	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.		
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.		

Activity	Storage List (whinh3525m100)				
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information		
Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	This check box is automatically cleared and read-only if the Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000) activity is set to applicable.		
	Selected	Cleared	This check box is automatically selected and read-only if the Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000) activity is set to not applicable.		
Automat-	Cleared	Selected	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.		
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.		

# To change order line activities for the inspection procedure

The following tables list the conditions that determine whether you can change the settings of the **Applicable** and **Automatic** fields, and what settings you can change, for activities of the inspection procedure for inbound order lines.

Activity	vity Warehouse Inspections Overview (whinh3122m000)		
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information
Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	The Warehouse Inspections Overview (whinh3122m000) session is selected by default. Therefore, you cannot change this check box from cleared to selected.
	Selected	Cleared	The Warehouse Inspections Overview (whinh3122m000) activity is mandatory for the <b>Inspection Procedure</b> . If you clear this check box, the other activities of the <b>Inspection Procedure</b> become cleared and read-only (which means that the inspection procedure is not used for the selected order line).
Automat-	Cleared	Selected	This setting is cleared and unavailable.
ic	Selected	Cleared	See the previous explanation.

Activity	ity Generate Inbound Advice (whinh3201m000)		
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information
Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	The Generate Inbound Advice (whinh3201m000) session is mandatory for the <b>Inspection Procedure</b> . Therefore, this check box is selected and read-only.
	Selected	Cleared	See the previous condition.
Automat-	- Cleared	Selected	Only if no inspection lines exist.
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no inspection lines exist.

Activity	Put Away	<b>Inbound Advice</b>	(whinh3203m000)
----------	----------	-----------------------	-----------------

Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information
Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	This check box is automatically cleared and read-only if both the item and the warehouse are location controlled and the Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000) activity is set to not applicable.
	Selected	Cleared	This check box is automatically selected and read-only if both the item and the warehouse are location controlled and the Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000) activity is set to applicable.
Automat-	- Cleared	Selected	Only if no inspection lines exist.
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no inspection lines exist.

## Activity Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000)

Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information
Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.
bie	Selected	Cleared	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.
Automat-	Cleared	Selected	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.

## Activity Storage List (whinh3525m100)

Check	Change	То	Condition/information
box	from		

Ap ble	•	Cleared	Selected	This check box is automatically cleared and read-only if the Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000) activity is set to applicable.
	;	Selected	Cleared	This check box is automatically selected and read-only if the Generate Storage List (whinh3415m000) activity is set to not applicable.
	ıtomat- (	Cleared	Selected	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.
ic	;	Selected	Cleared	Only if no inbound advice lines exist.

# To change order line activities for the outbound procedure

The following tables list the conditions that determine whether you can change the settings of the **Applicable** and **Automatic** fields, and what settings you can change, for activities of the outbound procedure for outbound order lines.

Activity Generate Outbound Advice (whinh4201m000)			dvice (whinh4201m000)
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information
Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	The Generate Outbound Advice (whinh4201m000) session is mandatory for the <b>Outbound Procedure</b> . Therefore, this check box is selected and read-only.
	Selected	Cleared	See the previous condition.
Automat-	· Cleared	Selected	See the previous condition.
ic	Selected	Cleared	See the previous condition.

Activity	Release Out	bound Ac	lvice (whinh4202m000)
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information

	Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	The Release Outbound Advice (whinh4202m000) session is mandatory for the <b>Outbound Procedure</b> . Therefore, this check box is selected and read-only.
		Selected	Cleared	See the previous condition.
-	Automat-	Cleared	Selected	Only if no outbound advice lines exist.
	ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no outbound advice lines exist.

Activity Generate Picking List (whinh4415m000)			(whinh4415m000)
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information
Applica-	Cleared	Selected	Only if no outbound advice lines exist.
ble	Selected	Cleared	Only if no outbound advice lines exist.
Automat-	Cleared	Selected	Only if no outbound advice lines exist.
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no outbound advice lines exist.

Activity	Picking List	(whinh452	25m100)
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information
Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	This check box is automatically cleared and read-only if the Generate Picking List (whinh4415m000) activity is set to applicable.
	Selected	Cleared	This check box is automatically selected and read-only if the Generate Picking List (whinh4415m000) activity is set to not applicable.
 Automat-	Cleared	Selected	Only if no outbound advice lines exist.
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no outbound advice lines exist.

Activity	Warehouse	Inspection	s Overview (whinh3122m000)
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information
Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	The Generate Outbound Advice (whinh4201m000) session is mandatory for the <b>Outbound Procedure</b> . Therefore, this check box is selected and read-only.
	Selected	Cleared	See the previous condition.
Automat-	Cleared	Selected	See the previous condition.
ic	Selected	Cleared	See the previous condition.

# To change activities for the shipment procedure

The following tables list the conditions that determine whether you can change the settings of the **Applicable** and **Automatic** fields, and what settings you can change, for activities of the shipment procedure for outbound order lines.

Activity	Freeze/Conf	firm Shipm	nents/Loads (whinh4275m000)
Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information
Applica- ble	Cleared	Selected	The Freeze/Confirm Shipments/Loads (whinh4275m000) session is mandatory for the <b>Shipment Procedure</b> . Therefore, this check box is selected and read-only.
	Selected	Cleared	The Freeze/Confirm Shipments/Loads (whinh4275m000) session is mandatory for the <b>Shipment Procedure</b> . Therefore, this check box is selected and read-only.
7 10.10 1110.1	- Cleared	Selected	Only if no shipment lines exist.
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no shipment lines exist.

**Activity** ■ **Print Bills of Lading (whinh4470m000)** 

- Print Packing Lists (whinh4476m000)
- Print Packing Slips (whinh4475m000)
- Print Delivery Notes (whinh4477m000)

Check box	Change from	То	Condition/information
Applica-	Cleared	Selected	Only if no confirmed or frozen shipment lines exist.
bie	Selected	Cleared	Only if no confirmed or frozen shipment lines exist.
Automat-	Cleared	Selected	Only if no confirmed or frozen shipment lines exist.
ic	Selected	Cleared	Only if no confirmed or frozen shipment lines exist.

Modifying Activity Settings							

## Planned status for warehousing orders and order lines

For each <u>warehousing order type</u>, you can determine whether the initial status of the warehousing orders and inbound and/or outbound order lines must be **Planned** or **Open**. In some cases, however, the originating order determines the initial status of a warehousing order.

#### Initial status of warehousing orders determined by origin

For warehousing orders originating from the following packages, the originating package determines whether the initial status is **Planned** or **Open**:

- Service
- Maintenance Sales
- Maintenance Work
- JSC Production
- Production Schedule
- ASC Production
- Production KANBAN

The **Planned** status is meant for order data entry, you cannot process planned warehousing orders. To make a planned warehousing order available for order processing, you must activate the warehousing order. An activated warehousing order obtains the **Open** status. If Warehousing is integrated with a Warehouse Management System, activated warehousing orders are automatically uploaded to the WMS system for processing.

For a newly created warehousing order line with the Planned status, you can:

- Define <u>advance shipment notices</u>
- Create <u>freight orders</u>
- Create <u>cross-dock orders</u>
- Generate <u>handling units</u>
- Specify Inventory commitment

In addition, for planned warehousing orders, LN:

- Generates <u>planned inventory transactions</u>
- Checks whether planned order lines are <u>blocked</u> or marked as <u>rush orders</u>.
- Creates history records

### Setting parameters for the Planned status

In the Warehousing Order Types (whinh0110m000) session:

- To specify that new inbound order lines obtain the Planned status, select the Generate Planned Inbound Order Lines check box.
- To specify that new outbound order lines obtain the **Planned** status, select the **Generate Planned Outbound Order Lines** check box.

New inbound or outbound order lines are either generated from other packages or created manually.

## How to activate Planned warehousing orders

To activate warehousing orders with the **Planned** status, you can use the Activate Warehousing Orders (whinh2203m000) session to activate a range of warehousing orders, or you can select individual orders and click **Activate**. The **Activate** option is available in the following sessions:

- Warehousing Orders (whinh2100m000)
- Warehousing Order (whinh2100m100)
- Warehouse Manager Dashboard (whinh2300m000)

In the Activate Warehousing Orders (whinh2203m000) session, you can also deactivate manually created warehousing orders.

Note that after you have activated a planned warehousing order for which the first activity is set to **Automatic**, you must use the Process button to trigger automatic processing or manually perform the first activity. For more information, refer to *Inbound and outbound procedures* (p. 7).

# Appendix A Glossary



## activity

A step in a warehousing procedure. An activity corresponds with a session of the Warehousing package. For example, the inbound activity Generate Inbound Advice is performed using the Generate Inbound Advice (whinh3201m000) session.

### advance shipment notice

A notification that a shipment has been sent. Advanced shipment notices are sent and received by means of EDI. You can receive advance shipment notices from your supplier informing you that goods are to arrive at your warehouse, and/or you can send advance shipment notices to your customers that the goods they ordered are about to be delivered.

Synonym: shipment notice

Abbreviation: ASN

#### ASN

See: advance shipment notice (p. 41)

## blocking

A function used to block inventory transactions. You can define blockings by zone, location, lot, stock point, or serialized item.

See: reason for blocking

#### cross-dock order

An outbound order line for which the goods must be cross-docked. A cross-dock order can be fulfilled by creating cross-dock order lines for it.

See: cross-dock order line

## freight order

A commission to transport a particular number of goods. A freight order includes an order header and one or more order lines.

A freight order header includes some general information, such as the delivery date and the name and address of the customer who is to receive the goods listed on the freight order.

A freight order line includes an item to be transported and some details about the item, such as the quantity and the dimensions.

## handling unit

A uniquely identifiable physical unit that consists of packaging and contents. A handling unit can contain items. A handling unit has a structure of packaging materials used to pack items, or is a part of such a structure.

A handling unit includes the following attributes:

- Identification code
- Packaging item (optional)
- Quantity of packaging items (optional)

If you link an item to a handling unit, the item is packed by means of the handling unit. The packaging item refers to the type of container or other packing material of which the handling unit consists. For example, by defining a packaging item such as Wooden Crate for a handling unit, you specify that the handling unit is a wooden crate.

See: handling unit structure

## inventory transaction type

A classification that is used to indicate the type of inventory movement.

The following inventory transaction types are available:

- Issue
  - From warehouse to other entity than warehouse.
- Receipt
  - From other entity than warehouse to warehouse.
- Transfer
  - From one warehouse to another.
- WIP Transfer
  - From one costing work center to another.

#### planned inventory transactions

The expected changes in the inventory levels due to planned orders for items.

#### rush order

An order that must be executed as soon as possible and that usually requires special payment and delivery terms.

### shipment notice

See: advance shipment notice (p. 41)

## warehousing order type

A code that identifies the type of a warehousing order. The default warehousing procedure that you link to a warehousing order type determines how the warehousing orders to which the order type is allocated are processed in the warehouse, although you can modify the default procedure for individual warehousing orders or order lines.

## warehousing procedure

A procedure to handle warehousing orders and handling units. A warehousing procedure comprises various steps, also called activities, that a warehousing order or a handling unit must take to be received, stored, inspected, or issued. A warehousing procedure is linked to a warehousing order type, which in turn is allocated to warehousing orders.

# Index

activities, 16, 20, 22, 25, 29, 29, 32, 34, 36
Activities
performance, 11
activity, 15, 28, 41
Activity
automatic or manual, 10
procedure, 10
Warehousing procedure, 10
advance shipment notice, 41
<b>ASN</b> , 41
blocking, 41
cross-dock order, 41
define warehousing order types, 13
Define
warehousing procedures, 9
freight order, 42
handling unit, 7, 42
inbound, 7
inspection, 20
inventory transaction type, 42
Order line
Planned, 39
outbound, 7, 22
planned inventory transactions, 42
Planned status
warehousing order line, 39
procedure, 11, 15, 20, 22, 25, 29, 29, 32, 34,
36
Procedure
activity, 10
receipt procedure, 16
rush order, 43
shipment, 25
shipment notice, 41
Warehousing order line
Planned, 39
warehousing order type, 13, 43

warehousing procedure, 11, 28, 29, 29, 32, 34, 36, 43

Warehousing procedure
 activity, 10
 define, 10
 performance, 11

Warehousing procedures
 define, 9